
















0305 
RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

Minutes of Meetin 
Danbury Township Board of Zoning Appeals 

GOVERNMENT FORMS & SUPPLIES 844-224-3338 FORM NO. 10148 

Held 
December 17, 2025 ___________ 20 ______ _ 

horse pasture got flooded because of the storage facility next door. She is concerned about flooding at 
her house and said it has really become a problem in the last five years she has lived there. 

Visual Nuisance - In Ohio, setbacks are designed to create a "buffer zone" between RV 
activities and residential property lines. While local cities set their own specific distances, common 
standards include: 

She said reducing the buffer zones would have a real negative impact. She said the Township 
requires him to have a grassy area and he says he is going to put fencing and trees, but who is going to 
hold him accountable? He can propose that landscaping, but it does not mean he is going to do it. She 
said the storage facility next to her said they were going to plant trees and they never did it. They 
eventually put up a fence, but she said there is no one holding them accountable. She is concerned he 
will not be held accountable for what he says will happen with his plans. Ms. Danchisen says she does 
not believe he talked to the neighbors around her, because she has talked to them and none of them 
think this campground is a good idea. She said it devalues her property, and her quality of living has 
been downgraded from all of the storage around there and now by this campground. She said they do 
not need more trailer parks. 

She said according to an ODOT study on traffic safety this specific location in Danbury 
Township highlighted a significant increase in accidents over the 2017-2019 period: 

(2017-2019): 
Total Crashes: 8 
Injury Crashes: 5 
2020-Present: 
Total Crashes: 13 
Injury Crashes: 8 
One fatality involved an elderly woman. 

She said the increased traffic makes it hard for her to get in and out of her street. She said the 
roundabout is supposed to help, but a lot of people do not know how to drive in one. Too many people 
come to a complete stop or pull out in front of people at the one on Route 53. The roundabout is not a 
sure fire solution to fixing this traffic area. She said there are often lines all the way down to Bergman's 
waiting trying to get on. She questioned how it is going to work when there is additional construction 
on the Route 2 bridge. She said the applicant stated that people would utilize their southerly exit, but 
the person that owns the storage facility does not maintain the grassy area along the roadway making 
it difficulty to see when trying to tum out. She said traffic from the gas station and the stop signs already 
contribute to a lot of accidents near the intersection. She said she has to deal with it every day. She said 
she could not tell the BZA any person who wants to see this when they get off the exit. She said she 
does not want to see a trailer park. 

Ms. Roberts interrupted and asked what Ms. Danchisen what the lesser of two evils would be 
for this property. Ms. Roberts said the applicant can either build storage buildings or a trailer park. Ms. 
Danchisen said neither is a good solution in her opinion. Mr. Shetler stated that is an opinion. She said 
it is an opinion of many neighbors. Ms. Roberts said she is entitled to her opinion. Ms. Danchisen said 
she understands they own the property and want to make money on it, but it is at the expense of the 
residents in the surrounding area. She stated that in her opinion, storage buildings would be the lesser 
of two evils. They would contribute less traffic and noise. She said she did not believe the traffic study 
that only six cars would be coming or going from a campground with 100 sites. She said people who 
come to RV parks area younger families who cannot afford to stay in the condominiums or that sort of 
resort and it is an economical way to travel. She said there are going to be a lot of children staying there 
and then crossing the street which creates a whole other issue with accidents. Ms. Roberts said the age 
of people staying in a campground does not really matter in this situation, it could be kids or grandkids. 
Ms. Roberts asked Ms. Danchisen to confirm that she would rather see storage there instead of a trailer 
park. Ms. Danchisen confirmed that she would. She said she has the biggest issue with the traffic. She 
said permanent camping is only five months out of the year and even though he is saying it is going to 
be permanent campsites, who is to say he is not going to rent it out by the weekend with no oversight. 
She said he is already taking reservations that she has seen on multiple social media sites. She said she 
does not believe him when he says he is not going to do anything except permanent spots. Ms. 
Danchisen said she hopes the Board takes into consideration the traffic, which is the biggest issue in 
that area, and the noise. 

Mr. Brown stated he would like to address some things Ms. Danchisen had mentioned. He said 
water runoff will all be contained within their own property. They had worked with their engineer to 
manage the runoff so that would not be an issue for her property. He said they are not going to do short 
term camping other than when they originally opened the facility for the purpose of attracting 
permanent sites and would be happy to sign something for the Township to confirm that. He said he 
was glad she brought up that storage can be a bad neighbor. He said there is a lot of noise and movement 



0306 
RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

Minutes of Meetil1&., 
Danbury Township Board of Zoning Appeals 

GOVERNMENT FORMS & SUPPLIES 844-224-3338 FORM NO.1 0148 

Held December 17, 20 =-2-=-:02=.:5=----_ 

in a storage facility because of people going in and out or working on boats or vehicles. He said they 
were pleasantly surprised about the what they found in the traffic study they did. Ms. Roberts said she 
was stunned by that infonnation. He said the busiest they found was The Forest RV Park and they have 
120 sites there with all pennanent camping. They also studied Rocky Point Campground. He said the 
first year will probably have more traffic than subsequent years because they are new and trying to see 
all the sites this area has to offer. Ms. Dale asked Mr. Brown iftheir plan had been shared with ODOT. 
Mr. Brown asked his engineer ifthey had seen it. Their engineer confinned that they had seen the plan. 
Ms. Dale asked him to come forward so that he could be sworn in and answer some questions. 

Dean Frederick, Engineer, 4645 N Summit, Toledo, came forward and was sworn in. He 
said ODOT had not seen this current plan, but they had seen the storage facility plan and the 
campground plan with 80 sites with both access drives going out to them. He said they had tried to 
address what Danbury Township would be left with after the roundabout installation. Ms. Dale said 
they will have to show ODOT the plan and asked if ODOT would require any further professional 
traffic study for the campground area. Mr. Frederick stated they would not require it to date because 
the frontage road on S. Danbury was actually part of the Township right of way and they would be 
getting a curb cut from Ottawa County for the driveway off of what ODOT leaves for the tennination 
of the roadway. ODOT did factor the applicant's traffic into their study for the roundabout and did not 
think it would have any significant impact. Ms. Roberts said it had not worked on Rte. 53. Mr. Frederick 
said it is different there and more difficult for drivers since there are two independent circles. Mr. Brown 
said the traffic roundabout in this area will only have one circle. Mr. Frederick said people are going to 
have to detennine which way they are going to proceed before they get to the roundabout based on 
where they are going on the peninsula. Ms. Dale asked if Mr. Frederick was a civil engineer. Mr. 
Frederick said he was a civil engineer and surveyor. Ms. Dale asked if he was a traffic engineer. He 
said he was not. Ms. Dale clarified again that ODOT was not going to require a professional traffic 
study for this as it stands right now. Mr. Frederick confinned that it was true and if they required one 
later, a professional traffic surveyor would do it. 

Mr. Brown said they had talked to ODOT about several other pennitted uses which would 
generate a lot more traffic such as a restaurant or a bank and they felt there would not be a significant 
impact on the area traffic. Should they decide they need a traffic study, they would get one done. 

Ms. Danchisen stated she would like to make a quick statement regarding the traffic. She asked 
Ms. Dale about the statistic of people over the age of 60 in the community and if it was over 50%. Ms. 
Dale said she did not know the answer to that. Ms. Danchisen said there is a large percentage of seniors 
living here and driving, along with a lot of drunk drivers. On top of those two hazardous drivers, you 
also have people pulling large recreational equipment or driving large vehicles which cause accidents 
because they cannot see properly. She described some curves to Bayshore Road that make it difficulty 
to see oncoming traffic. She said there will also be traffic from campers who have been sitting at their 
camper all day having cook outs and drinking. She would like the Board to consider the hazards. 

Mr. Brown said they did jump the gun and put some advertising on Facebook. He said they got 
calls from 27 people making inquiries. He said the majority were empty nesters that own home in other 
places, but want to have a place up in this area to stay in. He said as far as RV's being towed, they do 
plan to have a penalty if someone moves their trailer more times a year than is allowed. They will not 
have their lease renewed. Ms. Roberts asked if they were going to have all park models. Mr. Brown 
said that is what they would like, but there would be regular campers with wheels allowed as well. He 
said they want trailers to be placed pennanently on their sites with no movement out of them. He said 
they did stop their advertising to await all zoning approval regarding the campground. 

Mr. Shetler asked ifthere were further comments from the public. There were none. Mr. Shetler 
asked if a restaurant could be built on this property. Ms. Dale said it could. Mr. Shetler asked if it could 
be a restaurant that could serve 200-400 people. Ms. Dale said it could, or you could have multiple 
restaurants or uses with a lot more traffic. 

Ms. Roberts asked the applicant if he were turned down tonight, what they would 
hypothetically build on the property. Mr. Brown said they would probably build storage but leave a 
spot up front for a restaurant area. He said they had spoken about it before. Ms. Dale read from the 
Zoning Code all of the pennitted uses for this property. 

Ms. Roberts made a motion to close the public comment segment of the hearing, seconded by 
Ms. Cottingham. All were in favor and the motion carried. 

Ms. Cottingham motioned to recess into the executive session to deliberate the merits of the 
case. Ms. Roberts seconded the motion, and the roll call vote was as follows: Ms. Cottingham - yes; 
Mr. Fetzer - yes; Mr. Huffman - yes; Ms. Roberts- yes; Mr. Shetler - yes. The motion carried and the 
Board recessed at 8: 19 p.m. 



0307 
RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

Minutes of Meetine 
Danbury Township Board of Zoning Appeals 

GOVERNMENT FORMS & SUPPUES 844-224-3338 FORM NO. 10148 

Held 
December 17, 20 2025 

- ---

Ms. Roberts moved, and Mr. Fetzer seconded the motion to reconvene. The roll call vote was 
as follows: Ms. Cottingham- yes; Mr. Fetzer - yes; Mr. Huffinan -yes; Ms. Roberts - yes; Mr. Shetler 
- yes. The Board reconvened at 8:50 p.m. 

The Chair asked Ms. Dale to read the Findings of Fact for BZA Case #2025-270: 

BZA MOTION & FINDINGS OF FACT 
CONDITIONAL USE 

With regard to Case #BZA-2025-270 being a request for Conditional Use in accordance with 
Section 3.4 and Section 4.16 for a 100-campsite Recreational Camp/Campground for the 
property located at 1501 S. Danbury N. Road: 

1. The Conditional Use will be harmonious with and in accordance with the general objectives 
of the Danbury Township land use plan because the plan calls for this area to be "Corridor & 
Commercial" and an "Economic Expansion Area". 

2. The Conditional Use will be designed, constructed, operated, and maintained so as to be 
harmonious and appropriate in appearance with the existing or intended character of the general 
vicinity and that such a use will not change the essential character of the same area because it 
is a Commercial Corridor with other commercial uses around it, with more anticipated. 

3. The Conditional Use will not be hazardous or disturbing to existing or future neighboring uses 
for the same reason aforementioned in criteria #2 above. 

4. The Conditional Use will not be detrimental to property in the immediate vicinity or to the 
community as a whole for the same reasons aforementioned in criteria #2 & #3 above. 

5. The Conditional Use will be served adequately by essential public facility and services because 
public utilities to the site are available. Improvements or upgrades to the infrastructure will be 
under the directive of the Ohio EPA and regulating County agencies. 

6. The Conditional Use will have vehicular approaches to the property which will be designated 
so as not to create an interference with traffic on surrounding public/private streets or roads 
because the property will be accessed by two marginal access points and not directly onto SR 
269. Any improvements for the access to the property or SR 269 will be a directive from 
ODOT. 

Mr. Huffman moved that the Board adopts the findings of fact as read by the Recording Secretary and 
further moved that the Board has given due regard to the nature and condition of all adjacent uses and 
structure; the influence of the request on adjacent properties, neighborhood and community, the uses 
specifically mentioned in the "R-C" Recreational Commercial zoning district and after considering and 
weighing these factors, the Board finds that all decision standards are met and weigh more heavily to 
show that: 

a. The request is consistent with the Conditional Uses specifically mentioned in the "R­
C" Recreational Commercial Zoning District and the intent and purpose of the zoning 
resolution; and 

b. There is a preponderance of reliable, probative and substantial testimony and evidence 
that supports the applicants request for the Conditional Use. 

Therefore, the request should be accordingly APPROVED WITH THE FOLLOWING 
CONDITIONS: 

1.) That, "No Parking" is permitted and accordingly marked along the sides of any access drive 
within the campground for fire safety and emergency response. 

2.) That, no recreational vehicles, boats, trailers and the like are stored in any portion of the 
required setbacks or buffer zone. 

3.) That, it is the intention of this Board to approve this Conditional Use as a phased development 
with the approvals extending as outlined: 
a. Phase I (47 campsites) to be completed by December 17, 2027 (2026 plus a I-year 

extension in accordance with Section 7.11.3.A). 
b. Phase II (53 campsites) to be started by January 17, 2028, and completed no later than 

December 17, 2028. 
c. Any extension requests in accordance with Section 7.11.3.A. will be reviewed at the time 

such request is made and will be determined at that time if one or both phases should be 
further extended. 



0308 
RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

Minutes of Meeting 

Danbury Township Board of Zoning Appeals 
------,",-r, G""OVERNMENT FORMS & SUPPLIES 844-224-3338 FORM NO. 10148 

December 17, 20 2025 I' Held 

Motion Seconded by: Ms. Cottingham. Roll Call Vote was as follows: Ms. Cottingham - yes; 
Mr. Fetzer - yes; Mr. Huffman - yes; Ms. Roberts - yes; Mr. Shetler - yes. Vote 5-0 the motion carried. 

BZA MOTION & FINDINGS OF FACT 
AREA VARIANCES 

With regard to Case #BZA-2025-270 being a request for Area Variances to Section 4.16.2.C to 
reduce the front (70' required!40' proposed) & side (45' required! 20' proposed) yard setback; 
Section 4.16.2.D to reduce the access entries (50' required!30' proposed); Section 4.16.2.F to 
reduce the open space (2.72ac. required! 1.84ac. proposed); Section 4.16.3.C to reduce the 
perimeter campsite setback to 2' & 5' (8' required)for the property located at 1501 S. Danbury 
N.Road: 

1. The property in question will yield a reasonable return and can be used beneficially without 
the variance because the property can be used for any permitted use listed in the "R-C" 
Recreational Commercial zoning district. 

2. The variance is not substantial because collectively, they are all relatively minor. All the 
physical camper units will meet the setbacks; access road reductions are off of marginal access 
roads, any setback reductions are from the internal private road turnaround and overall, ample 
open space is provided because 2.93 acres are provided within the buffer & setback area. 

3. The essential character of the neighborhood would not be substantially altered by the variance 
and adjoining properties would not suffer a substantial detriment as a result of the variance for 
the same reason aforementioned in Conditional Use Decision Criteria #2 above. 

4. The variance would not adversely affect the delivery of governmental services (Le. water, 
sewer, garbage, etc.) for the same reason aforementioned in Conditional Use Decision Criteria 
# 5 above. 

5. The property owner did purchase the property with knowledge of the zoning restriction prior 
to purchasing the property and have been before the Zoning Commission to get the property 
rezoned to "R-C" Recreational Commercial. 

6. The property owner's predicament can feasibly be obviated through some method other than a 
variance because the property is a new development and could have been designed accordingly. 

7. The spirit and intent behind the zoning requirement would be observed and substantial justice 
done by granting the variance because there is no known negative impact to the surrounding 
properties as a direct result of the variance requests. 

Mr. Huffman moved that the Board adopts and makes the findings of fact as read by the recording 
secretary and that after considering and weighing these factors, the Board finds that Decision 
Standards(s) (2) (3) (7) weigh more heavily to show that: 

a. Practical difficulty is sufficient to warrant granting the Variance requested. 
b. There is a preponderance of reliable, probative and substantial testimony; and 
c. There is evidence that does support the applicants' request for a variance. 

Therefore, the Variance should be accordingly APPROVED. 

Motion Seconded by: Ms. Roberts. Roll Call Vote was as follows: Ms. Cottingham - yes; Mr. 
Fetzer- yes; Mr. Huffman - yes; Ms. Roberts - yes; Mr. Shetler- yes. Vote 5-0 the motion carried. 

The Chair stated that the application has been Approved, and the applicant can pick up permits 
following the Board's next meeting, which is January 21,2025. 

Approval of Board of Zoning Appeals 
November 19, 2025, Regular Meeting Minutes 

Mr. Huffman made a motion to approve the November 19,2025, regular meeting minutes as 
presented. Ms. Roberts seconded the motion. All were in favor, motion carried. 

Signing of Decision Sheets 
Ms. Cottingham motioned for approval of the decision sheets as presented. Mr. Fetzer seconded. All 
were in favor and the motion carried. 

a. BZA-2025-251 2991 Waterside. Request for an Area Variance from Section 
4.7.2.D to allow for a lanai/screened-in porch to encroach into the north, rear-yard 
setback (18' proposed! 25' required). Eric & Ashley Bilton, Owner/Applicant. 



0309 
RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

Minutes of 

Danbury Township Board of Zoning Appeals 
GOVERNMENT FORMS & SUPPLIES 844-224-3338 FORM NO.1 014 

Held December 17, 20 2_°_2_5 __ 

b. BZA-2025-247 143 Springcrest. Request for an Area Variance to Section 3.5 to 
allow for a covered porch addition to encroach into the west, front-yard setback (31.5' 
proposed! 35' required). Daniel & Sharon Spohn, Owner/Applicant. 

c. BZA-2025-249 2148 Tecumseh. Request for an Area Variance from Section 5.1.7 
to allow for a screened-in porch addition to encroach into the south and east front-yard 
setbacks (9' proposed! 20' required). Steven Coder, Owner/Applicant; Nick 
Schnittker, Agent. 

d. BZA-2025-2S0 10240 E. Bayshore. Request for an Area Variance to Section 
4.17.1 to allow for an addition onto Cottage #2 to encroach into the west, side-yard 
setback (1' proposed! 45' required) and south, rear-yard setback (3.5' proposed! 55' 
required) and to Section 7.12.3.A to exceed the square footage permitted onto a 
nonconforming structure [128s.f. (26.6%) proposed! 96s.f. (20%) allowed]. Stuckert's 
Resort, Owner/Applicant; Tim & Linda Brown, Agents. 

Unfinished Business 
There was none. 

New Business 

1. Oath for Sherry Roberts. 
Ms. Roberts was sworn in by Ms. Dale and took her oath of office for the term ending in 2029. 

2. Acceptance of By-Laws and 2026 Meeting Schedule. 
BZA Members accepted the by-laws and Meeting Schedule for 2026. 

3. Distribution of Updated Zoning Resolution. 
Members acknowledged receiving the updated Zoning Resolutions. 

4. Election of Officers. 
Mr. Huffman nominated Sherry Roberts as BZA Chair for 2026. Mr. Shetler seconded the 
nomination. All in favor. 

Ms. Roberts nominated Gregory Huffman as BZA Vice Chair for 2026. Mr. Huffman seconded 
the nomination. All in favor. 

Ms. Roberts nominated Joseph Fetzer as BZA Secretary for 2026. Mr. Shetler seconded the 
nomination. All in favor. 

Other Business 
There was none. 

Reports and Communications from Members and Staff 
There was none. 

Adjournment 
Ms. Cottingham moved to adjourn the meeting and Ms. Roberts seconded the motion. All in 

attendance were in favor and the motion carried. 

The meeting was adjourned at 9:12 p.m. 

1<~~ tl baiL 
RECORDING SECRETARY 



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
Minutes of 

Danbury Township Board of Zoning Appeals 
GOVERNMENT FORMS & SUPPLIES 844-224-3338 FORM NO. 10148 ,1 

0310 
.:t\l1~etin:J::I:>L-~ ___ _ 

Held December 17, 20 2025 

[INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

. ... I 


